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' RECOMMENDED ORDER :
- STATEMENT OF THE CASE
On December 3, 2014, Eric J‘ohnson (Claimant) filed a claim (Claim) with the Maryland
Home Improvement Commission (MHIC) Guaranty Fund (Fund) for reimbursement of
$161,744.16 in actual losses allegedly suffered as a result of a home improvément contract with
Jeffrey Ovadia, trading as EZ Fullrehab, LLC (Respondent). Md. Code Ann., Bus. Reg.
§§ 8-401 through 8-411.(2015). On January 16, 2019, the MHIC forwarded the matter to the
Office of Administrative Hearings (OAH) for a hearing.
I held a hearing on June 17, 18, 19, 20 and 21, 2019 continuing August 12, 13, 14, and

16, 2019 at OAH, 11101 Gilroy Road, Hunt Valley, Maryland 21031. Bus. Reg. § 8-407(¢).






Shara Hendler, Assistant Attorney General, Department of Labo; (Department),’ represented the
Fund. The Claimant fepresented himself. Jeffrey L. Forman, Esquire, represented the
Respondent, who was present.

The contested case provisions of the Administrative Procedure Act, the Department’s
hearing regulations, and the Rules of Procedure of the OAH govern procedure in this case. Md.

Code Ann., State Gov’t §§ 10-201 throughj 10-226 (2014 & Supp. 2019); Code of Maryland
| Regulatioxis (COMAR) 09.01.03; COMAR 28.02.01. |
ISSUES

1. Did the Claimant sustain an actual loss compensablé by the Fuhd as a result of the
Respondent’s acts or ‘omiésions? |

2. If so, what is the amount of the compensable loss?

SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE

Exhibits |

I admitted the following exhibits on the Claimant’s behalf:

Clmt. Ex. 1 - Curriculum Vitae of Ken Watters, P.E., undated

Clmt. Ex. 2 - Building Code Adopting Ordinance, Baltimore County, July 10, 2010

Clmt. Ex. 3 - Building plans for 1336 Heather Hill Road, undated

Clmt. Ex. 4 - Photographs of the subject property, undated

Cimt. Ex. 5- KW Engineering report, May 13, 2014

Clmt. Ex. 6 - Order of the Office of Administrative Hearings for Baltimore County, April 17,
2014

Clmt. Ex. 7- Proposed Scope of Work to Repairs to Code Violations, Plowden Engineering, -

- April 29,2014

Clmt. Ex. 8 - Build permit issued November 10, 2011

Clmt. Ex. 9 - Construction video of 1336 Heather Hill Road, undated

Clmt. Ex. 10 - Electronic mail communications, December 6, 2011 through February 23 2014

Clmt. Ex. 11 - Ovadia LLC building and remodeling proposal, September 20, 2011

Clmt. Ex. 12 - Electronic mail between Claimant and Respondent, September 10, 2011 through
"October 7, 2011

Clmt. Ex. 13 - Electronic mail between Claimant and Respondent, May 13, 2012 through May
15,2012

Clmt. Ex. 14 - Various receipts For items and services purchased by Claimant, undated

1 On July 1, 2019, the Maryland Department of Labor, Licensing, and Regulation became the Department of Labor.
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Cimt. Ex. 15 - Electronic mail between Claimant and Respondent, March 3, 2012 through April

12,2012

Clmt. Ex. 16 - Check copies of payments from Claimant to Respondent November 1, 2011
through May 1, 2012

Cimt. Ex. 17 - Photograph of cabmet used in the project, undated

Clmt. Ex. 18 - Check copies of payments from Claimant to other service providers, April 14,
2012 through June 26, 2012

Clmt. Ex. 19 - Electronic mail between Claimant and Respondent, June 19 and 20, 2012

Clmt. Ex. 20 - Electronic mail between Claimant and Respondent, May 1, 2012 through August
20,2013

Clmt. Ex. 21 - Electronic mail between Claxmant and Respondent, December 17, 2013 through

. December 23, 2013

Clmt. Ex. 22 - Photograph of cabinet used in the project, undated

Clmt. Ex. 23 - Wood Construction Connectors, Important Information & General Notes,
Simpson Strong-Tie Company, 2013

Clmt. Ex. 24 - Baltimore County Uniform Code Enforcement Correction Notice, July 30, 2013

Clmt. Ex. 25 - True Test Copy, Automated Permit Tracking System, Inspection Detail Screen,
May 10, 2013

Clmt. Ex. 26 - Baltimore County Uniform Code Enforcement Correctlon Notice, October 7,
2013

Clmt. Ex. 27 - Permits, Approvals, and Inspections; Building, Electrical, and Plumbing -

* Inspections, October 5, 2014

Clmt. Ex. 28 - Partial Deposition Transcript of Arnold Jablon, October 27, 2014

Clmt. Ex. 29 - Drawing of pantry wall, 1336 Heather Hill Road; undated

Clmt. Ex. 30 - Electronic mail between Claimant and Respondent, December 9 and 10, 2011

Clmt. Ex. 31 - Electronic mail between Claimant and Respondent, June 9, 2014 through July 21,

. 2014

Clmt. Ex. 32 - Respondent’s adjustments to contract: December 12, 2011; January 12 2012;
January 26, 2012; February 16, 2012; and, May 6, 2012

Clmt. Ex. 33 - Electronic mail and correspondence from Glenn Berry to the attorneys of
Claimant and Respondent, May 16, 2014

Clmt. Ex. 34 - Electronic mail and correspondence fron Stanford Gann, Jr., attorney for

 Claimant to Jeffrey L. Forman, attorney for Respondent, December 16, 2014

Clmt. Ex. 35 - Electronic mail between Claimant and Respondent, January 5, 2014

Clmt. Ex. 36 - Attachment to Complaint Form, undated :

Clmt. Ex. 37 - Electronic mail between Claimant and Respondent, May-13 and 15 2012

Clmt. Ex. 38 - Exterior photographs of two doors, undated

Clmt. Ex. 39 - Electronic mail between Claimant and Respondent, September 7, 2013 through

~ June 6, 2014

Clmt. Ex. 41 - Electronic mail from Claimant to Respondent, September 10, 2011

Clmt. Ex. 42 - Correspondence from Ian P. Sokoloski, President of Design Evolution
Architecture, LLC, January 24, 2014 '

Clmt. Ex. 43 - Petition to Establish and Enforce Mechanic’s Lien in the Circuit Court for
Baltimore County, August 10,2012

~ Clmt. Ex. 44a-Partial electronic mail from Josh Nicodemus to Respondent concerning beams.

October 21, 2011






Clmt. Ex. 44b-Electronic mail between Claimant and Josh Nicodemus, January 30, 2014
Clmt. Ex. 45 - Electronic mail between Claimant and Peter Malmquist, December 9, 2011
through December 15, 2011 '

I admitted the following exhibits on the Respondent’s behalf:

Resp. Ex. 1 - Electronic mail from Claimant to Respondent, May 13, 2012

Resp. Ex. 2 - Electronic mail from Respondent to Claimant, May 13, 2012

Resp. Ex. 3 - Electronic mail from Respondent to Claimant, May 15, 2012

Resp. Ex. 4 - Electronic mail from Respondent to Claimant, May 16, 2012

Resp. Ex. 5 - Electronic mail from Claimant to Respondent, July 26, 2012

Resp. Ex. 6 - Correspondence from Respondent to Claimant, July 10; 2013

Resp. Ex. 7- Correspondence from Respondent to Claimant, August 6 2013

Resp. Ex. 8 - Electronic mail from Respondent to Claimant, August 21, 2013

Resp. Ex. 9 - Electronic mail from Respondent to Claimant, September 7, 2013

Resp. Ex. 10 - Electronic mail from Respondent to Claimant, December 11, 2013

Resp. Ex. 11 - Electronic mail from Respondent to Claimant, December 15, 2013

Resp. Ex. 12 - Electronic mail from Respondent to Claimant, December 16, 2014

Resp. Ex. 13 - Electronic mail from Respondent to Claimant, December 19, 2013

Resp. Ex. 14 - Electronic mail from Claimant to Respondent, December 22, 2013

Resp. Ex. 15 - Electronic mail from Respondent to Claimant, December 23, 2013

Resp. Ex. 16 - Electronic mail from Respondent to Claimant, January 2, 2014

Resp. Ex. 17 - Electronic mail from Respondent to Claimant, January 5, 2014

Resp. Ex. 18 - Electronic mail from Respondent to Claimant, February 10, 2014

Resp. Ex. 19 - Correspondence from Respondent to Claimant sent certified mail, March 21, 2014

Resp. Ex. 20 - Electronic mail from Respondent to Claimant, April 1, 2014

Resp. Ex. 21 - Electronic mail from Claimant, April 2, 2014

Resp. Ex. 22 - Electronic mail from Respondent to Claimant, April 2, 2014

Resp. Ex. 23 - Electronic mail from Glenn Berry to J. Plowden, May 2, 2014

Resp. Ex. 24 - Electronic mail from Jeff Forman to Stanford Gann, May 2, 2014

Resp. Ex. 25 - Correspondence from Mr. Gann to Mr. Forman, May 5, 2014

Resp. Ex. 26 - Electronic mail from Berry to Forman, May 23, 2014

Resp. Ex. 27 - Correspondence from Mr. Gann to Mr. Forman, May 30, 2014

Resp. Ex. 28 - Electronic mail from Mr. Berry to Mr. Forman, June 6, 2014

Resp. Ex. 29 - Electronic mail from Respondent to Claimant, June 26, 2014

Resp. Ex. 30 - Electronic mail from Respondent to Claimant, July 31, 2014

Resp. Ex. 31 - Electronic mail Mr. Forman to Mr. Gann, January 8, 2015

Resp. Ex. 32 - Contractual Agreement between Respondent and Claimant, October 24, 2011

Resp. Ex. 33 - Baltimore County Uniform Code Enforcement Correction Notice, November 26,
2013

Resp. Ex. 35 - Overhead photograph of property, undated

Resp. Ex. 39 - Photograph of exterior of property, undated

Resp. Ex. 40 - Photograph of exterior of property, undated -

Resp. Ex. 41 - Photograph of rear exterior of property, undated

Resp. Ex. 42 - Photograph of rear deck of property, undated

Resp. Ex. 43 - Photograph of exterior of property showing vapor barrier, undated

Resp. Ex. 44 - Photograph of exterior door and porch showing vapor barrier, undated

Resp. Ex. 45 - Photograph of interior work showing wall is not on subfloor, undated
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Resp. Ex. 46 - Photograph of interior work showing subfloor as planks, undated
Resp. Ex. 47 - Photograph of kitchen, partial completion, showing tilework, undated
Resp. Ex. 48 - Electronic mail from Respondent to Sarah Ovadia, containing picture of a -
kitchen, August 13, 2019
I admitted the following exhibits on behalf of the Fund:
Fund Ex. 1 - Hearing Order designating OAH to hear the matter, January 16, 2019
Fund Ex.2 - Notice of Reschedule issued by OAH on May 14, 2019

Fund Ex. 3 - MHIC Claim Form submitted by Claimant on December 3, 2014
Fund Ex. 4 - Licensing history of Respondent from MHIC database, June 11, 2019

Testimony

The Claimant testified and presented the testimony of: Fiona Newton, wife of Claimant;
Anthony Alexander, President of Commercial Index Bureau; Kenneth Archer Watters, II,
Structurgl Engineer, accepted as an expert in structural engineering; Albert Glenn Berry, Chief
Inspector for Baltimore County, retired; Michael Jim Jacobson, Home Inspector; Jay Hosley,
General Contractor, accepted as expert in building, construction, and bidding; Sarah Ovadia,
wife of Respondent; James Plowden, Professional Engineer; and, Ian Sokoloski, Archltect,
accepted as an expert inf the field of architéctllrg.

The Respondent testified and present_ed the testimony of Amold Jablon, Deputy
Administrative Officer and Director of the Department of Pe;mits, Approvals and Inspections,
Baltimore County, retifed. A

The Fund presented no testimony.

PROPOSED FINDINGS OF FACT

I find th‘e‘following facts by a preponderance of the evidence:

1. At all times relevant to the subject of this hearing, the Respondent was a licensed

home improvement contractor under MHIC license number 98274.
2.  The Claimant is.the_'owncr of 1336 Heather Hill Road, Baltimore, Maryland (the

Property). Itis his primary residence. He purchased it several years ago with his mother and in
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2003 began to share the home with, Fiona Newton, who relocated from England to the United
States. The couple married in 2005. The Claimant’s mother does not reside at the P-roperty;

3. After sharing the home together for a few years, Ms. Newton suggested that it
should be expanded and remodeled.

4.  The Claimant hired Design Evolution Architecture, LLC to draw up architectural
plans for the addition. Ian Sokoloski, architect, drew the platis and J oshua,Nicodemus,'e’ngineer,
stamped them with his approval.

5. Aﬂer the plans were created, the Claimant sought bids with contractors.

6. The Claimant learned of the Respondent through Angie’s Lis;. .

7. On September 20, 2011, the Respondent provided the Claimant with a building
and requé_ling proposal. |

8. On October 24, 2011, the Claimant and the Respondent entered into a contract
(Contract) to make improvements to the home according to the plans drav;fn up by the Claimant’s
architeét. The Contract stated in pertinent part,

“The Owner acknowledges that the Builder is relying upon the expertise
of the Architect and/or engineer that drafted and prepared the Plans ... to
assure that all the Work is structurally sound and properly designed in
accordance with all prevailing codes, ordinances, laws, statutes, rules and
regulations.”

(Lic. Ex. 32)

9. The plans called for construction work to be performed on the upper and lower
levels of the home, with the main change being the construction of an addition over the lower
level concrete storage area. The ceiling of the storage area would be removed. The addition
would include a larger kitchen and pantry .area. The plans also called for the iﬂstallation of an
electrical systém, with several recessed lights and other light fixtures. The plans also called for

the installation of a front and back deck.






10.  OnNovember 10,2011, Baltimore County, Department of Permits, Approvals,
and In$pecﬁons, issued a building permit for the Property, listing the Respondent as the
contractor. |

11.  The permit listed the following w;)rk to be performed: demolish existing sunroom,
leave the foundation in place, construct an addition over the existing foundation with the kitchen
~ and pantry measuring thirteen feet by twenty-one feet, construct front and rear decks with the
ﬁont measuring thirteen feet by five feet and four inches and the rear deck measuring fifty-two
feet by nineteen feet irregular in shape, make interior alterations to remove a load bearinngall,
install a new header beam, and install doors and windows. -

12.  The original agreed-upon Contract price was $109,000.00.

13.  The Contract.included neither a start dafe nor a completion date; however, the
constrﬁction began shortly after the Claimant and Respondent entered into the contract.

14.  The Claimant and Ms. Newton moved out of the home in October 2011 to allow
the construction to proceed.

15.  The Claimant oversaw the project while Ms. Newton worked out of the home.

16. On December 12, 2011 and May 6, 2012, the Claimant and Respondent agreed
upon change orders in writing.

17. The cost of the change orders amounted to $38,431.00.

18. Ovef the course of the project, the Claimant paid the Respondent $ 111,631.00.

19.  The Claimant and Ms. Newton ultimately moved back into the home in April

2012; however, the work was not yet complete

20.  The Respondent concluded the bulk of hlS work by May 2012 and declined to

return to the job until the Claimant paid him additional sums.






21. The Claimant withheld partial payment based upon the status of the work
performed at the Property.

22.  There were numerous significant problems with the construction of the addition
including the framing of the wall, the failure to lay subfloor under the walls, the use of rubble in
the footers to the foundation and the inadequate depth of footers, the use of the wrong size of
j'oistsz, unsupported beam splices, and the lack of adequate support for the deck.

'23.  On-August 10, 2012, the Respondent filed a Petition to Establish and Enforce
Mechanic’s Lien in fhe Circuit Court for Baltimore County. The Respondent claimed the
Claimant owed him $24,682.00 for labor and materials.

24. From 2012 through mid-_2014, the Respondent and Claimant exchanged emails
regarding the Respondent’s demand for the remaining payment on the contract and the
Claimant’s demands for repairs to the work performed. In some of the e-mails, the Respondent
informed the Claimant that he would charge for repairs to the Property but the Respondent never
provided any proposed figures or explained what work he would perform to remedy the repairs.
The failure to provide this information irked the Claimant and created a source of tension
betwée,n the parties. | .

25.  OnJuly 30, 2014, Rodney Larﬁck, Béltimore County Building Inspector, issued a
Baltimore County Uniform Code Enforcement Correction Notice to the Respondent, citing
violations of the International Residenﬁal Code of 2009, Sections 12-607, 311.7.4.1, and 703.8.

26. On October 7, 2013, Mr. Larrick issued another Baltimore County Uniform Code
Enforcement Correction Notice to the Respondent, citing him with violating Baltimore County

Building Code: Part 120 Stop Work Order, Part 115.3 and ordered all phases of construction

2 According to Mr. Sokoloski, a joist is a horizontal supporting framing member; it can suppbrt a floor or a ceiling.
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must remain stopped until Baltimore County receives and approves engineered drawings that
have been agreed upon by tfxe Claimant and the Responderit.

27.  On November 26, 2013, Glenn Berry, Baltimore County Building Inspector,
issued a code enforcement correction notice to the Respondent f(;r addiﬁoﬁal violations of the
" International Residential Code of 2009.%

7 | 28.  OnJanuary 17, 2014, Mr. Berry issued a replacement code enforcement notice to
| the Respondent for violations of the International Residential Code of 2009.

29.  On March 7, 2014, Mr. Berry iss.ued a Code Enforcement and Inspections

| Citation, assessing a civil pené;lty of $12,800.00.

30.  OnApril 17, 2014, Judge John Beverungen, Administrative Law Judge for
Baltimore County, issued an order in wﬁich he found multiple violations of the International
Residential Code of 2009 and Baltimore County Building Code With regard to construction work
performed by the Respondent at the property. The violations were grouped by area of the home
as follows:‘ |

a. Floor:
b. Walls
c. Deck
d. Stairs

31.  Judge Beverungen 6rdéréd that the civil penalty be suspended provided the

following conditions were met: |
a. Within fen days; the Respondent shall provide to Mr. Berry a “puncim list” or
remediz-ttion plan prepared by a licensed professional engineer for correcting

~

the code violations;

3 The copy of the correction notice in evidence as Licensee Exhibit 33 states “violations — see attachment #1”;
however, there was no attachment provided with the document.
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b. Within five days of receipt, Mr. Berry shall apprdve or disapprove the
remediation plan;

c. Within ninety days of plan approval, the Reépondent shall complete, in a
workmanlike manner, all repairs required by the approved plan;

d. Final approval of the remediation work performed under _the approved plan

| shall be determined in the sole discfetibn of Mr. Berry; and

e. Eachof the Respondent’s obligations is conditioned upon being provided
access to the Pfopeﬁy to complete thev repairs. |

32.  OnApril 29, 2014;' the Respondent provided Mr. Berry with a document entitled
“Proposed Scope of Work Repaifs to Code Violations,” prepared by Plowden Engineering.*

33. OnMay2,2014, tﬁé Respondent (through counsel) sent the Claimant an e-mail
stating he is ready to remedy the code violations.

34.  OnMay 5, 2014, the Claimant (through counsel) sent the Respondent a letter
requesting that the Respondent provide the Claimant with a “performance bond or other adequate
assurance that all necessary work will be completed properly” and “a clear statement that y01;r
client will not charge my clients to correct your client’s defective work...” Once these items are
provided, the Claimant stated the Respondent would be able to enter the property and correct his
work. (Lic. Ex. 25).

35.  OnMay 13, 2014, Kenneth Watters, KW Engineering, issued a report in which he
identified code violations set forth in the judge’s order for which there was no plan to correct
them based on Plowden Engineering’s Apﬁl 29, 2014 proposal.

36.  Mr. Berry did not approve the April 29, 2014 submission and required changes to

be made to the repair proposal. The Respondent submitted a revised proposal.

4 The revised version of this document was admitted as Claimant’s Exhibit 7.
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37. On May 21, 2014, Mr. Berry approved the revised scope of work for repairs to
remedy the code violations at the Property.

38.  OnMay 23, 2014, Mr. Berry emailed the Respondent and Claimant, requesting -
confirmation by May 30, 2014' that the Claimant has granted the Respondent permission to enter
his home to remedy code violations. |

39.  The Claimant did not grant the Respondent permission to enter and repair because
the Respondent had not provided the assurances he requested on May 5, 2014.

40. On june_6, 2014, Mr. Berry closed the code violation case.

41.  The Respondent’s staff has not performed the maj orify of the mandated repairs on
the Property.> The Respondent made repairs té the deck flashing and his employée made repairs
to the mortar of the foundation wall and installed a few missing joist hangers under the deck.

42, On February 6, 2017, Judge Dennis Robinson, of the Circuit Court of Baltimore
County ordered a judgment in favor of the Claimant in the amount of $130,000.00 against the
Respondent; However, the Claimant did not recover because the Respondent declared
bankruptcy. |

43.  The cost of performing the work to remedy the most significant problems with the

construction is $78,500.00.
- DISCUSSION

As I determined in my Prehearing Conference Report and Schcduling Order, the special
verdict from the Circuit Court of Baltimofe County did not satisfy the requirements for the
MHIC to order the Fund to pay a financial award to the Claimant. Bus. Reg. § 8-409 (2015).

For this reason, I heard the case on its merits and my decision is as follows.

$ There was testimony by the Claimant that an electrician made some repairs; however, the Baltimore County order
does not address electrical work. The Claimant also testified that one of the Respondent’s workers installed a few
hangers under the deck; however, the Claimant said this work was limited and did not specify a date when this repair

occurred.

11
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In this case, the Claimant has the burden of proving the validity of the Claim by a

preponderance of the evidence. Md. Code Ann., Bus. Reg. §8-407(e)(1) (2015); Md. Code Ann.,
State Gov’t §10-217 (2014); COMAR 09.08.03.03A(3). “[A] preponderance of the evidence

| means such evidence which, when considered and compared with the evidence opposed to it, has

more convincing force and produces . . . a belief that it is more likely true than not true.”

Coleman v. Anne Arundel Cty. Police Dep’t, 369 Md. 108, 125 n.16 (2002) (quoting Maryland

Pdttern Jury Instructions 1:7 (3d ed. 2000)).

An owner may recover compensation from the Fund “for an actual loss that results from
an act or omission by a licensed contractor.” Md. Code Ann., Bus. Reg. § 8-405(a) (2015)’; see
also COMAR 09.08.03.03B(2) (“actual losses . . . incurred as a result of misconduct by a
licensed contractor”). “’[A]ctual loss’ means the costs of restoration, repair, replacement, or
completion that arisé from an unworkmanlike, inadequate, or incomplete home imp;ovement.”
Bus. Reg. § 8-401. This recovery is conditioﬁal in nature. Thé Commission may deny a claim if
the Commission finds that the claimant unreasonably rejected good faith efforts by the contractor
to resolve the claim. Bus. Reg. § 8-405. For the following reasons, I find that the Claimant has
proven eligibility for compensation.

The Respondent was a licensed home improvement contra;:tor at the time he entered into
the Contract with the C}aimant.

The Respondent performed unwérkmanlike home improvements. Building codes are the
bare minimum of what is required of contractors in order to ensure their work creates a safe
environment for homeowners. A contractor who performs workmanlike home improvements

can be expected to adhere to building code standards while satisfying the requirements of a

§ As noted above, “COMAR?” refers to the Code of Maryland Regulations.
7 Unless otherwise noted, all referencgs to the Business Regulation Article herein cite the 2015 Replacement
Volume of the Maryland Annotated Code.
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contract with a homeowner. In this case, the Respondent violatea building codes and failed to |
adhere to the terms of his own contract, including follovﬁng the architectural plans which he
incorporated by reference into his contract with tﬁe Claimant.

Contract Noncompliance |

The Claimant presented the testimony of several witnesses w1th expertise in areas relating
to construction and its afﬁliated fields. Mr. Watters, an expert in structural engineering testified |
the Respondent .built the addition in a manner that was non-compliant with the architecture.ﬂ
plans. He described the construction as “extremely poor” and pointed out numerous points at
which the construction did not follow the athecﬁrﬂ plans. Jim Jacobson, an expert in
building construction and home inspection, testified about his observations of the property upon
inspection. He found many deficiencies. Jay Holsey, an expert in building, construction, and .
bidding, and Jan Sbkoloski, an expert in architécture echoed these sentiments. Mr Sokoloski
testified that the Respondent only consulted him about the roof construction and that his.
construction of other are.als of tﬂe addition departed from the plans significantly.

Joists

The building plans called for the Respondent to use two by twelve joists, running
undemeath the addition to support the portion of the addition that would be an overhang.
However, the Respondent used two by eight joists and added beams under the addition. Mr.
Watters opined the addition of beams supporting the cantilever created a visually unpleasant
result and the substitution of two by gights was inconsistent with the architectural plans; which
called for larger and stronger joists. The Respondent admitted he did not fdllow the plans in his’

-construction of the joist system under the addition.
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Concrete slab

The building plans called for the removal of the concrete slab roof on top of the storage
area, before the contractor was to lay the joist construction. The Respondent adnﬁtted during his
testimony that he did not follow the plans in this respect. Mr. Sokoloski, who created the
architectural plans, testified the removal of the concrete slab ceiling was necessary because the
Respondent was installing a new floor. In order to alig’n the new floor with the existing kitchen
area floor, the Respondent needed to remove the slab. However, the Respondent did not remove
the slab and rather built the joist construction directly on top of it. As a result, there was no
access to electrical wiring and the other structural components between the slab and the joist
construction. |

Insulation

The insulation used in the pantry wall area did not allow for adequate ventilation. Mr.
Sokoloski testified the Respondent used the “pink insulation” when the plans called for applied
polyurethane to ensure the area was insulated and had enough space for ventilation. As a result,
there was inadequate ventilation in this area.

Foundation |

The plans called for sill plates on top of the foundation, attached to the rest of the
structure, holding it in place; however, the Respondent did not use any sill plates, which placed
the structure at risk of moving in an earthquake or high wind event. The Réspondént admitted
during his testimony that he did not ins'téll sill plates and therefore did not build the front
foundation wall according to the plans, nor did he get approval from an engineer to make a
change to the front foundation wall. In his May 13, 2014 report, Mr. Wattérs indicated there
should have been a lateral support underneath the two by eight floor joists; the joists should not

be sitting directly on top of the masonry foundation wall (previously the storage area). Due to
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this flaw in construction and the fact that untreated joists were used, there is.nothing preventing
them from decaying or 1;otating, because {hey are not connected to the bottom foundation
structﬁre. |

Subfloors

The Respondent laid the subfloor such that it stopped short of the exterior walls. This
can be seen in the photographs (Clmt. Ex. 4) and was observed by Mr. Watters, who explained
that drawing A5.2 in the plans (Clmt. Ex. 3) reflects that the subfloor should run under the
exterior walls and emphasized this creatés structural stability. The Respondent testified this was
an acceptablc manner of constructlon and he did not know it constituted a code violation.
However, none of the experts agreed with him, and he was cited for code violations for this
deficiency. |

Footers

The Respondent did not install the foundatjon footers properly. Mr. Wattérs summarized
that the Respondgnt’s errors demonstrated a lack of knowledge régardiﬁg how framing is
supposed to be done and noted, “This isn’t the way we frame houses; this is the way we frame
chicl;en houises.” Mr. Jacobson echoed Mr. Watters concemns for the footers, stating they should
be at least thirty-two inches deep and be conical, which is not what the Respondent did. Rather
one footer was both not conical and was buried a shallow six to eight inches, as is reflected by
the photographs with a measuring stick next to the dug-out-footer in Claimant’s Exhibit 4. Mr.
Sokoloski agreed the footers were not deep enough and expressed concern that there were debris
and rubble in the footers. He testified there should never be rubble in a footer. Mr. Sokoloski

explained the risk of having footers installed in this manner is that the foundation may crack.
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Deck

The architectural plans called for the use of two by twelve beams running under the
addition and out under the deck. The. use of this size of beam would allow the deck to cantilever
out. Mr. Jacobson opined that when the Respondent reduced the size of the beams to two by
eights, it became impossible to achieve the same cantilever designed in the architectural plans for
the deck. To compensate, the Respondent used supporting posts under the dedk, which was less
aesthetically pleasing and inconsistent w1th the bui_lding plans. The Respondent acknowledged

| using these posts but testified he did not charge the Claimant for their installation. That was not

really the point, as they were not supposed to be used in consh‘ucdon. Additionally, Mr.
Sokoloski testified there were gaps between the decking posts and the house, which was
inconsistent with the plans and a workxhanship issue |

Building Code Violations

Baltimore County found the Respondent in violation of thé following sections of the

International Residential Code of 2009. The Respondent did not contest these violations:

Area of the home | Codes Violated | Reason for Violation

'Floor. R408.1 A -Must provide venﬁlatiop under floors
R408.4 -Must provide access to all under floor spaces
R502.9 -Must fasten the subfloor in compliance with R602.3(1)
R503.1.1 -Subfloor bearing must qomply with code
R403.1.6 -Floor system must be properly attached to foundation
R1001.11 -Must provide required clearance around combustible

framing
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-Must nail bottom plates as specified

Walls R602.3(1)(14)
R602.3 -Studs must be continuous from sole plate to top plate
and comply with this section
R602.6.1 -Drill and notching the top plate must comply with
code
Deck R312 & R301.5 | -The guard must be installed in compliance with this
section and ;he table in the code |
R502.2.2.1 -Deck iedger connection shall comply with code
R703.8 -Déck flashing shall 'comply with code
R403.1.4.1 -Footings must comply with code
R502.6 -Beam bearing — all beam members shall be continuous
between,beaﬁng points |
Stairs R311.74.1 -Riser Height of all stairs must comply with ‘code
R311.7.7 -Handrails must be ifnstalled per code |
R311.7.4.3 -The nosing of the tread profile must cdmply with code
(Clmt. Ex. 6).

The Respondent argued that he was only responsible for following the terms of the

contracf and that a clause in his contract with the Claimant placed liability for any defects on the

Claimant’s architect. The clause states,

" The Owner acknowledges that the [Respondent] is relying upon the expertise of
the Architect and/or engineer that drafted and prepared the Plans and any
specifications accompanying the Plans ...to assure that all the Work is structurally
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sound and properly designed in according with all prevailing'codes, ordinances,
laws, statues, rules and regulations (collectively the “Law™).

(Licensee Ex. 32).
The HIC argued that, pursuant to COMAR 09.08.01.08, a contractor may not shift all liability to
the architect for adherence to b'uilding‘ codes. The regulation states,

In the perfdrman'ce of any Home Improvemert Contract it shall be the non-

delegable duty and obligation of the prime contractor to secure, or see to the

securing of, every permit, license, or special exception necessary to the proper

completion of the contract according to applicable state or local building laws.
While the regulati&n creates an obligation that is specific to the securing of permits and licenses,
the whole point of doing so is to ensure the contract ig completed “according to applicable state
or local building laws.” It would not make sense to read the regulation to require the architect to

" apply for permits and licenses but then flagrantly violate international or county building codes."

In fact, the Claimant’s architectural plans include a section, entitled “General Conditions,” which
specifies that all work be performed in a workmanlike manner in accordance with local, state,
and federal laws. (Clmt. Exhibit #3). These laws include building codes. Furthermore, a home
owﬁer may recover compensation from the Fund “for an actugl loss that resuits from an act or
omission by a licensed contractor.” Md. Code Ann., Bus: Reg. § 8-405(a) (2015). This statute
requires a contractor to avoid poor performance that results in financial damages to a home
owner. Furthermore, Mr. Watters testified that architectural plans serve as a guide for
construction; however, contractors are expected to know building codes and abide by them. I
agree. The Respondénf cannot offload his responsibility for adhering to building codes to an
architect who designed the plans for the addition.

Mr. Jacobson and Mr. Holsey testified about the nature and consequences of several of

the code violations, based on their inspections, Jacobson in 201 9 and Holsey in 2017.
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Floor

The subfloor did not run under the walls and therefofe was not properly fastened
according to the International Residential Code of 2009. The subfloor plywood should run under
plates, which attach to the walls, holding the structure in place. Without this structure, Mr.
Jacobson opined the addition lacked stability which could allow the structure to move in a severe
weather event. Mr. Jacobson also explained that by leaving the concrete slab in place and laying
the floor joists on top of it, there was no access underneath it. By code, access must be provided
to all under floor spaces. -

Mr. Holsey testified that the foundation was too thick and the ﬂqoring system was not
properly attached. Thé foundation needed to l’)e reduced and a sill plate installed and anchored to
the block wall, foa;m installed, and new joists put in place. He also agreed with MrT Jacobsox;
that the subfloor should run‘ underneath the Wa_lls and proposed cutting off the bottom of fhe
walls to run the subfloor underneath.

The Respondent used the existing lower level fireplace as a support for the flooring above
it and installed wood beams up against the ﬁréﬁlace. Installinbg suppoﬁ beams in this area of the
home was cdnsistcnt with the architectural plans; however, Mr. Sokoloski testiﬁed he did not
know there was a fireplace on the lower level because there was so mucﬁ junk being stored in
that vicinity when he visited the home in advance of drawing thé plans. Mr. Sokoloski opined
the Respondent should have modified the construction design to a.llow for a standoff (gap space)
between the ﬁreplacé and the combustible framiné. Mr. Watters echoed this sentiment in his -
| report, in which he stated there is a requirement of a four-inch clearance behind a masonry
chimney according to the International Residential Code of 2009. This is obviously a safety

hazard. The ﬁreplacé cannot be used with combustible wood framing against it. Mr. Jacobson
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testified this constituted a code violation and he directly observed it. The Respondent
constructed the floors of the addition in an unworkmanlike manner.

Walls

Mr. Holsey opined the main wall in the addition was not built adequately and was weak.
(See Clmt. Ex. 4, photograph 70). He testified, the drywall would need to come down and new
studs put in place. He also recommended using longer beams, rather than having smaller joiﬁt
beams running across the main wall of the addition. Mr. Watters opined the wall was not framed
properly. Specifically, his May 13, 2014 report explained the Plowden proposal omitted a plan ’
to fix the code violation for omission of the drilling and notching of the top plate at the top of the
main wall. As such, the Respondent failed to construct the main wall in a workmanlike manner.

Deck

Mr. Jacobson opined the deck was unsafe for numerous reasons that corresponded to
code violations. The deck was weak because the Respondent did not use enough bolts to secure
it. There should be one bolt per bay; however, Mr. Jacobson observed bolts randomly plaéed,
and missing in several adjacent bays. Additionally, the deck was not adequatelsl bolted to the
house. The Respondent used a beam that was spliced without placing a post underneath the
splice. Also, the deck footing was not buried thilfty~two inches below ground, nor was it conical.
The footing appeared to Mr. Jacobson to be siﬁing directly on the ground, which’constituted
code violations related to deck requirements, because beam bearings shall be continuous and
footings must comply with the International Residential Code of 2009. Mr. Jacobson opined the
deck is in danger of collapse because bolts were missing between fhe hangers and' the ledger
board connection was inadequate.

The Claimant testified he barely uses the deck because he understands it is not safe. He

mostly uses it for his cats to go outside. The Respondent presented undated aerial photographs
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showing that there was at some point a table and a barbe(;ue on the deck. Ifind that this
evidence rebutted the Claimant’s testimony that he barely uses it. However, the question is
whether or not the deck was built in a workmanlike manner, not whether the Claimant chooses to
use it. I find that the deck was not built in a Workmanlike manner.

Stairs

" Mr. Jacobson testified the risers (step level)® for the deck‘ stairs were inconsistent heights,

in violation of International Residential Code of 2009. By law, only a 3/8 of an inch difference
between the risers is permissible énd one of the risers was 5/8 of an inch different from another
step, which Mr. Jacobson explained was a c;pde violation. Such significant riser differentials are
something one would expect to see from a homeowner buildihg stairs for the first time, not from
a licensed contractor. The Respondent did not construct the stairs in a wo;kmanlike manner.

Efforts to Repair '

Mr. Watters opined that the Prbposed Plan by Plowden Engineering to correct the code
.viblaﬁons left the following code violations unresolved: R403.1.6 (F oundation Anchorage),
R403.1.1 (Footings), R502.6 (Beam Bearing), RIOO.]] (Framing Clearance), R602.3(1)-23 (joist
connection, R602.3.(1) Rim Joist Connéction, and R602.3(1)(14) Wall fastening, and R602.6.1
(Drilling and Notching Top Plate), and R703.8 (Deck Flashing). Mr. Watters made several
recommendations in a letter to M. G;lnh, dated May 13, 2014, and opined that if these additional
repairs are not made, the home will remain in an unsafe condition.

Baltimore County ordered the Respondent to repair the Claimant’s home to remedy all
noncompliance with building codes. Specifically, thé Respondent was obligated to hire an
engineer to look at the construction and develop a plan for remediation and submit it to Mr.

Berry. The Respondent hired Mr. Plowden to develop a plan and Mr. Plowden submitted it to

8 Risers are the vertical portion of a step.
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‘Mr. Berry. After one revision of the plan, Mr..Berry approved it. However, Mr. Berry learned
that the Respondent had not been permitted to enter the Claimant’s home to make repairs and
sent an e-mail broviding the Claimant with a deadline for alllowing éntry. In response to that
e-mail, counsel for the Claimant ‘'sent a letter to Mr. Berry explaining that the Claimant would
permit entry once the Respondent provided a plan for correction of the construction defects and a
performance bond or other assurances that his company would correct the defects. The Claimant
never received these items and therefore, did not permit the Respondent back into the home.

While Baltimore County required the Claimant to grant entry for enforcement of the
order, the Home Improvement Commission took moﬁer view. The HIC argued that these
requests by the Claimant were reasonable, especially considering that the Respondent informed
the Claimant that he may charge for his corrective work on the Property. Iagree. While the
Respondent was not required to provide assurances as a condition for abiding by Baltimore
County’s order, I do not find that thgse requesfs' were unreasonable. First, such assurances
are anticipated under Bus. Reg. § 8-501C(1)(ix) and COMAR 09.08.01.26A(3). Section -
8-501C(1)(ix) requires a home improvemeni contract to include the following items: a notice set
by the Commission that: (1) specifies the protections available to consumers through the
Commission; and (2) advises t'he consumer of the right to purchase a performance bond for
additional protection against loss. COMAR 09.08.01.26A(3) requires a home improvement
contract to include a notice that a homeowner may request that a contractor purchase a
performance bond for additional protection against lo;v.ses not covered by the Guaranty Fund.
The Clairﬁant’s request for a performance bond or other assurances is legally supported.
Furthermore, considering that the Respondent made so many errors during construction, it was
indeed reasonable for the Claimant to ask the Respondent for a plan to correct his errors before

beginning work.
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The Respondent argued that this case is anélogous to UK. Const. & Management, LLC.

V. Gore, 199 Md. App. 81 (2011), in which the Court of Appeals of Maryland ruled that by
denying U.K. the opportunity to make corrections, Gore relieved U.K. of its obligation to do so
and fatally impaired her breach of warranty claim. /d. at 95. However, in Gore, the Appellant
changed the locks and hired another construction Eomﬁany to complete the job. In this matter,
the Respondent elected to stop ‘working on tﬁe Claimant’s home in May 2012. The Claimant and
Respondent subsequently exéhanged correspondence about correcting the work; however the .
Respondent declined to provide the gssuranceé sought by the Claimant. The Claimant therefore
only allowed minor jbbs to be completed by the Respondent, including mortar repairs by John
Vlahogixnﬁs;, an independent contractor working for the Respondent, and repairs to the deck
flashing done by the Respondent himself. Therefore, I do not find the Cléimant prevented the
vRespondent from correcting the constructiph errors. I thus find that the Claimant is eligible for
compensation from the Fund. The next stép is to determine the costs to repair the

unworkmanlike job performed by the Respondent.

Costs to Repair

Mr. Holsey offered his expert opinion regarding the costs to repair the most seriously
unworkmanlike and unsound aspects of the job. Fifst, he would reduce the thickness of the
foundation frém eight to twelve inches down to four inches thick. Then he would lay a sill plate
and fill the cinderblock used by the Respéndent with concrete and place a bolt on the sill plate
(which would be anchored concrete to the block wall). Then he would put do@ foam, the sill
plate would rest on the foam, and then the new joists would rest on the sill plate. He estimated
this job would cost $20,000.000, based on the cost of time and materials.

| Second, Mr. Holsey recommended fixing the subfloor, which would support the walls.

To do so, he would tear up the kitchen tiles, remove cabinets and base cabinets. He would cut
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off the bottom of the walls, and run the subfloor under the wall and rebuild the bottom of the
walls and install new studs in the walls. He estimated the cost of this repair to be $25,000.00.

Third, Mr. Holsey recommended fixing the beams supporting the deck where there are
splices. To do so, he would remove the; spliced beéms and install beams with no splicing. The
cost of this repair would be $1,500.00 to $2,000.00.

Fourth, Mr. Holsey recommended digging one new footing and installing a post directly
on the footing, because one of the posts for the deck did not land on a footing. He estimated the
cost to dig a new footing would be $300.00. He did not provide a cost estimate for placing the
post on the footing. It was not clear whether he anticipated using the same post or a new one.

Fifth, Mr. Holsey proposed fixing the stairs, which Baltimore County cited for code
violations. He estimated it would cost $1,200.00 to put the stairs at the same riser height, per -
code.

Sixth, Mr. quey explained that the whole kitchen would have to be reassembled. Befo;e
doing so, Mr. Holsey recommended taking down the walls to achieve code compliance. He
specifically recommended placing new studs in the wall structﬁre once the walls were down to
bring them into compliance with building codes. Drywall woﬁld then be installed, new ceramic
tile would be laid, cabinets and countertops would be reinstalled. The cost of this work would be
$50,000.00. |

The Claimant argued that the floor in the kitchen to the living room area should be level.
The joint between the wood floor and the tile floor in the kitchen is currently not level. ‘The
Claimant obtained an estimate from Tom Moran to raise the height of vthe wood floors, at a cost
of $13,650.00. However, Mr. Ovadia testified that the Claimant changed his tile selection,
causing the % inch héi’ght differential, which could b;a solved with an angled transition strip. I

accept that a transition strip would be appropriate, especially in light of the Claimant’s decision
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to change the tile selection. ‘There is no evidence that the floor differential formed the basis of a
code violation and neither Mr Jacobson nor Mr. Holsey expressed concerns about it during their
testimony. No financial award is appropriate for the % inch height differential (;f the flooring.
The Claimant also argued that he was due additional costs on the project. First, the
‘Respondent was supposed to give him credits for the cost of several items but never did so.
Those items included a back patio door ($1,00Q.OO), a second patio door ($600.00), kitchen
windows ($570.00), (;lerestory windows ($500.00) and a casement ﬁicture window ($970.00).
Second, the Claimant testified the electrical system did not work and he paid $1,295.00 to get it
working and completed. Additionally, the Claimant paid $2,406.00 for siding and $1,300.00 for
drywall and $2,666.33 for masonry to make the brickwork match. The Respondent did not
| coﬁnte; the Claimant"s argument that he failed to provide'ngcessary offsets; however, the
Respondent testified his electrician went out to the Claimant’s home t'o remedy electrical
problems and argued that the receipt the Claimant presented from Gramophone was for work not -
anticipated under the contract. The Respondent believed the masonry work was a close enough
matéh and did not believe he was liable for redoing that work. Globally, the Respondent testified
he never pmnitted the Claimant to subtract from the amount owed the cost of having work done
by other contractors, with the exception of $120.00 for gutter work over the addition.
- Considering that the work called for by Mr. Holsey is already far in excess of the Sé0,000.00 _
limit on an award from the Fund, I need not resolve whether the Claimant is entitled to some or
all of these amounts.
The Respondent argued‘ihat the Claimant owed him the remainder of tﬁe balance on the
contract, $24,682.00 because he had satisfied the requirement of substantial completion under
the contract. However, Mr. Sokoloski testified that given all of the incomplete and inadequate

work (with cracked tiles, hanging wires, and trim not installed), the Respondent did not reach
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substantial completion of the job. I do not find the Claimant owed the Respondent any

additional sums, considering the inadequacies énd incomplete nature of the job when he left in

May 2012.

Having found eligibility for compensation I must determine the amount of the Claimant’s
actual loss and the amount, if any, that the Claimant is entitled to recover. The Fund ma& not
compensate a claimant for consequential or punitive_ damages, personal injury, attorney fees,
court costs, or interest. Bus. Reg. § 8-405(e)(3); COMAR 09.08.03.03B(1). MHIC’s regulations
provide three formulas to measure a claimant’s actual léss, depending ;)n the status of the

contract wqu.

In this case, the Respondent performed some work under the contract, and the Claimant
intends to retain other contractors to complete or remedy that work. Accordingly, the following
formula appropriately measures the Claimant’s actual loss:

If the contractor did work according to the contract and the claimant has
solicited or is soliciting another contractor to complete the contract, the claimant’s
actual loss shall be the amounts the claimant has paid to or on behalf of the
contractor under the original contract, added to any reasonable amounts the
claimant has paid or will be required to pay another contractor to repair poor Work
done by the original contractor under the ongmal contract and complete the
original contract, less the ongmal contract price. If the Commission determines
that the original contract price is too unrealistically low or high to provide a
proper basis for measuring actual loss, the Commission may ad_]ust its
measurement accordingly.

COMAR 09.08.03.03B(3)(c). The Claimant paid $111,661.00 to ﬁle Respondent under the
‘(:ontract and will have to pay ahotﬁer contractor $78,500.00 to remedy the most significant issues
with the construction, as described by Mr. Holsey. The sum of these two figures is $190,131.00.
From $190,131.00 the amount of the contract (including change orders) is subtracted for a result
of $190,131.00 minus $147,421.00, which equals $42,710.00. | |

The Business Regulation Afticle caps a claimant’s recovery at $20,000.00 for acts or

omissions of one contractor, and provides that a claimant may not recover more than the amount
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paid to the contractor against whom the claim is filed. Bus. Reg. § 8-405(¢)(1), (5); COMAR
09.08.03.03B(4), D(2)(a). In this case, the Claimant’s actual léss of $42,710.00 exceeds
$20,000.00. Therefore, the Claimant’s recovery is llmlted to $20,000.00. Bus. Reg.
§ 8-405(e)(1); COMAR 09.08.03.03D(2)(a). | .
PROPOSED CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

I conclude that the Claixhant has sustained an actual and compensable loss of $20,000.00
as a result of the Respondent's acts or omissions. Md. Code Ann., Bus. Reg. §§ 8-401, 8-405
(2015); COMAR 09.08.03.03B(3)(c). I further conclude that the Claimant is entitled to recover
that amount from the Fund. Md. Code Ann., Bus. Reg. §§8-401, 8-405(a), 8-407(e)(1) (2015).

RECOMMENDED ORDER

I RECOMMEND that the Maryland Home Improvement CoMssion:

ORDER that the Maryland Home Improvement Guaranty Fund award the Claimant
$20,000.00; and |

ORDER that the Respondent is ineligible for a Maryland Home Improvement
Commission license until the Respondent reimbqfses the Guaranty Fund for al! monies disbursed
under this Order, plus annual interest of ten percent (10%) as set by the Maryland Home
Improvement Commission;” and |

ORDER that the records and publications of the Maryland Home Improvement

Commission reflect this decision.

' CONFIDENTIAL|

November 14, 2019

Date Decision Issued "Rachael Barnett

: Administrative Law Judge
RAB/da
# 182698

? See Md. Code Ann., Bus. Reg. § 8-410(a)(1)(iii) (2015); COMAR 09.08.01.20.
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IN THE MATTER OF THE CLAIM * MARYLAND HOME IMPROVEMENT
OF ERIC JOHNSON COMMISSION

AGAINST THE MARYLAND HOME
IMPROVEMENT GUARANTY FUND * MHIC CASE NO. 15(75)429

FOR THE ACTS OR OMMISSIONS OAH CASE NO. LABOR-HIC-02-19-
OF JERRY OVADIA, T/A * 02537
OVADIA, LLC
*
* %* ¥* * %* * *
FINAL ORDER

'This matter was originally heard before an Administrative Law Judge (“ALJ”) of the Office
- of Adnﬁnistn‘aﬁvé Hearings (“OAH”) on June 17-21 and August 12-14 and 16, 2019. Following
the evidentiary hearing, the ALJ issued a Proposed Decision on November 14, 2019 conclﬁding
that the homeowner, Eric Johnson (“Claimant”) proved that he sustained an actual loss as a result
of the acts or omissions of Jerry Ovadia (“Contractor”) and awarded the Claimant $20,000.00 frbni
the Home Improveinent Guaranty Fund (“Guaranty Fund”). ALJ Proposed Decision pp. 26-27.
In a Proposed Order dated February 12, 2020, the Maryland Home Improvement Commission
(“MHIC” or “Commission”) affirmed the Proposed Decision of the ALJ to graht Claimant an
award from the Guaranty Fund. The Contractor subsequently filed exceptions of the MHIC
Proposed Order.

On August 20, 2020, a three-member panel (“Panel”) of the MHIC held a remote hearing
on the exceptions filed in this matter. The Contractor participated and was represented by counsel,
Jeffrey Forman. The Claimant participated without counsel. Assistant Attorney General Andrew
Brouwer appeared at the exceptions hearing to present evidence and argument on behalf of the
Guaranty Fund. The following preliminary exhibits were offered by AAG Brouwer and admitted
into evidence at the exceptions hearing: 1) February 12, 2026 transmittal letter and OAH Proposed

Decision; 2) Contractor’s Exceptions; 3) February 26, 2020 hearing notice; 4) Contractor’s March






3, 2020 request for postponement; 5) Claimant’s March 4, 2020 request for postponement 6)

Claimant’s April 16, 2020 request for postponement; and 7) Pr(;posed Order. Neither the Claimant

nor the Contractor produced a copy of the transcript of the hearing before the ALJ. The Claimant

sought to introduce new evidence but he failed to demonstrate that the documents he wanted in
evidence were relevant and were not and could not have been discovered before the OAH hearing
in June and August 2019. Therefore, the Panel’s review of the record was limited to the
preliminary exhibits offered by AAG Brouwer at the exceptions hearing, the OAH Proposed

Decision and the exhibits introduced into evidence at the OAH hearing. COMAR 09.01.03.09(G)

o : _

In his written exceptions and during argument before the Panel, the Contractor asserted
that the ALJ’s Proposed Decision included the following errors:

1. The case caption identified the Contractor as Jeffrey Ovadia, rat_he; than by his correct
name, Jerry Ovadia.

2. The Proposed Decision unlawfully recommended that the Commission order that the
Contractor, in his individual capacity, be ineligible for a home improvement contractor
license until he reimburses the Guaranty Fund for the award to be paid to the Claimant
because the Contractor’s debts were discharged by the United States Bankruiatcy Court for
the District of Maryland in an Order of Discharge entered February 13, 2019. |

3. The Proposed Deéision identified EZ Fullrehab, LLC, as the corporate entity that the
Contractor was trading as when he contracted with the Claimant, when in fact the
Contractor was trading as Ovadia, LLC, when he contracted with the Claimant.

The Claimant argued that the Contractor should not escape liability for his conduct because

he declared bankruptcy and that the Contractor currently is operating EZ Fullrehab LLC, so EZ



Sy .




Fullrehab LLC should be included as a party to this proceeding.

The Commission agrees that the Contractor’s name in the caption in this proceeding should
be corrected to reflect his name.

The Commission finds, based on the contract giving rise to this proceéding (OAH Hearing
Respondent’s Exhibit 32), that the Claimaﬁt contracted with Ovadia, LLC, and not EZ Fullrehab,
LLC. Therefore, the Corﬁmission holds that the caption of this proceeding should be revised to
identify Ovadia, LLC, as the corporate respondent.

The Commission finds, based on the Order of Discharge in Case Number 17-12110 in the
United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Maryla;nd (Exceptions Hearing MHIC Exhibit
2) that Mr. Ovadia’s personal liability for the reimbursement of the Guafanty Fund for the Fund’s
payment of an award to the Claimant was discharged pursuant to the bankruptcy laws of the United
‘States. Therefore, the Commission holds that Mr. Ovadia is not responsible for reimbursing the
Guaranty Fund for the award to be disbursed pursuant to this Order and that Ovadia, LLC, is solely
liable to reimburse the Guaranty Fund for the award.

Having considered the parties’ arguments, the evidence contained in the record, and the
ALJ’s Recommended Decision, it is this 9 day of September 2020, ORDERED:

A.  That the Findings of Fact of the Administrative Law Judge are AFFIRMED;
B. That the Conclusions of Law of the Administrative Law Judge are AFFIRMED;
C. That the Proposed Decision and Recommended Order of the Administrative Law Judge is

AMENDED;

D. That the case caption is revised to identify the Contractor/Respondent as Jerry Ovadia t/a

Ovadia, LLC;

E. That the Claimant is awarded $20,060.00 from the Maryland Home Improvement Guaranty
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Fund;
F. That Ovadia, LLC, is solely liable to reimburse the Guaranty Fund for all monies disbursed
under this Order plus annual interest of at least ten percent (10%) as set by the Commission, Md
Code Ann., Bus. Reg. §§ 8-410(a)(1)(iii), 8-411(a);
G. That the records and publications of the Maryland Home Improvement Commission shall
reﬂecf this decision; and
H. Any party has thirty (30) days from the date of this Final Order to appeal this decision to
Circuit Court.

Jean White

Chairperson —Panel

Maryland Home Improvement
Commission






